# **RECEIVED**

STATE OF WISCONSIN 07-08-2011

# C O U R T O F A P P ECLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS

#### DISTRICT I

Appeal No. 2011AP000394-CR (Milwaukee County Circuit Court Case No. 2008CF003168)

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

-vs-

DEMONE ALEXANDER,

Defendant-Appellant.

## DEFENDANT-APPELLANT'S BRIEF-IN-CHIEF

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION
AND ORDER DENYING MOTION FOR POSTCONVICTION RELIEF
ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR MILWAUKEE COUNTY
THE HONORABLE CARL ASHLEY PRESIDING

Hans P. Koesser,
State Bar #1010219
Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

Koesser Law Office, S.C.

Post Office Box 941

Kenosha, Wisconsin 53141-0941

Telephone & Fax No.: (262) 654-4864

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. Were the defendant's statutory and constitutional right to be present at all proceedings when a jury is being selected violated when after the initial jury selection and during the trial, the trial court voir dired and dismissed two jurors outside of the defendant's presence?

## <u>Trial court answer</u>: No.

2. Did trial counsel provide effective representation in asking the defense's main witness whether his testimony was consistent with his statements to the defense investigator, when trial counsel should have known the statements were not consistent, and which resulted in the door being opened allowing the prosecutor access to the defense investigator's notes and work product?

<u>Trial court answer</u>: Even if defense counsel performed deficiently, the defendant was not prejudiced because the evidence of the defendant's guilt was overwhelming.

3. Did trial counsel provide effective representation by providing the state with undiscoverable written notes prepared by the defense investigator which the prosecutor then used to destroy the defense's primary witness? <u>Trial court answer</u>: Even if defense counsel performed deficiently, the defendant was not prejudiced because the evidence of the defendant's guilt was overwhelming.

4. Did new evidence discovered after the trial warrant a new trial?

Trial court answer: No.

## NECESSITY OF ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The defendant does not request oral argument or publication because Alexander's request for a new trial can be resolved by application of established legal principles.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### A. Procedural History

On June 24, 2008, a criminal complaint (Doc. 2) was filed in the Milwaukee County Circuit Court charging the defendant with one count of first-degree intentional homicide while armed, as a repeater, and possession of a firearm by a felon, as a repeater.

The charges stemmed from an incident which occurred on June 10, 2007 in the City of Milwaukee. Officers were dispatched to investigate a shooting at 2600 West Victory Lane in the City of Milwaukee. The complaint alleged that at this time and place, there were a number of persons standing in front of a residence located at 2605 West Victory Lane. These persons included Kianna Winston, who resided on the first floor of the residence, and several others, identified as Steven Jones, Candace Winston, Chulanda Jones, and Carrie Arnold. The victim, Kelvin Griffin, resided in the upstairs apartment of the residence. According to the complaint, Kianna was angry with Kelvin Griffin. Kianna and Chulanda began shouting:

"C'mom KG. Bring your ass outside. Come out." About a minute later, Griffin came out with an assault rifle and started pointing it at the people and said: "Everybody move the fuck around."

At this point, some of the witnesses said they heard shots ring out and when they looked in the direction where the shots came from, they saw the Defendant, Demone Alexander, shooting a black pistol from an area located near a dumpster. One witness estimated that Alexander fired the weapon about 13 times. The complaint further alleged that the victim did not fire his assault rifle back at Alexander, but rather ran from the scene. The defendant allegedly continued to follow the victim, shooting at him as he followed him. According to the complaint, Kelvin Griffin subsequently died as a result of the bullets shot by the defendant.

This matter was eventually tried to a jury between October 13 and October 21, 2008. The defendant was convicted of first-degree intentional homicide while armed and felon in possession of a firearm. The defendant was given a sentence of life imprisonment. He

subsequently filed a motion for postconviction relief which the trial court denied without a hearing.

### B. Jury Issue

On the fourth day of trial, it came to the court's attention that one of the juror's might have been acquainted with a person in the gallery of the courtroom (84:58). The court conducted a conference in chambers with the attorneys. The defendant was not present. The court asked the defendant's attorney if she would be willing to "waive" the defendant's right to be present. Id. The defendant's attorney indicated that she was waiving the defendant's right to be present. Id.

The court proceeded to voir dire Juror #10 (Jolanda P.) outside of both the jury's and the defendant's presence. Id. Jolanda P. indicated that she recognized someone in the gallery ("Monique") and described her as "an old friend of the family," and that they had grown up together (84:58-59). Jolanda indicated that "she [Monique] went to school with my sister, and she's always around my family. We party together, go out together, stuff like that." (84:59).

Jolanda admitted that Monique was actually her sister's friend and that they were not talking anymore, and since there was apparent hostility between her sister and Monique, that she (Jolanda) did not talk to Monique anymore either. *Id*. When asked whether she knew what relationship Monique had to the case, she replied: "I'm not sure. I'm not even sure." *Id*. Jolanda was then allowed to leave the chambers (84:61).

court then asked the attornevs what relationship Monique had to the case. The assistant district attorney indicated that the defendant had told the bailiff that Monique was the mother of his (the defendant's) child (84:61-62). Defense counsel argued that Jolanda did not know that the defendant was the father of Monique's baby and therefore it could not be demonstrated that Jolanda would have any biases or prejudices (84:62). The assistant district attorney argued it might be "dangerous" to keep her on the jury. The court then indicated that before making a ruling about Juror Jolanda P., the court wanted to know what the defendant knew about the relationship between Jolanda and Monique:

Hang on. I'm sorry to interrupt. I think I need a moment here. I need to know what he knows about any kind of relationship. I think he can help fill in the gaps about who this person is and what he knows. Do understand what I'm saying? Does he know something more? I mean, from his standpoint is it going to affect his belief that things are okay because she's on the jury? And at this point you haven't had a chance to talk to him yet about this woman. So, first of all, let's do this. I'm going to allow you two to go out and talk to Mr. Alexander. Find sense is. Mavbe he's not out what his comfortable. I don't know. So why don't you do that first

Now, I will caution you that they're close to the glass. And so, you know, having them not hear would probably be a good thing. So I'm going to give you a few minutes to do it. We're going to wait right here so we don't have to move back and forth so I can get the record supplemented about what, impact your client has about what we just talked about.

(84:63-64).

Defense counsel responded by noting that she would object to her client making any statements on the record:

> MS. WYNN: Just so the record is clear, I'm going to object to my client making any statements on the record.

THE COURT: About what?

MS. WYNN: About anything at this point. THE COURT: wait a minute.

MS. WYNN: But I'll talk to him.

THE COURT: Well, if you want to waive - I don't even know if you can. Well, talk to him first and then

tell me what you want to do.

MR. STINGL: I think since we're on the record here, if they talk to him, they can probably gather the information that they want, that the court wants from him

without -

THE COURT: Oh, sure.

MS WYNN: Okay. I don't want him making

any statements on the record.

(84:64).

The defendant's attorney's then went back and consulted with the defendant. Attorney Wynn advised the court that the defendant had confirmed that Monique was his "baby's momma." Id. Defense counsel further clarified that the defendant told her that he had not seen Monique in 16 months, that he was not close to her, that he did not know Juror Jolanda P., that he had never seen her before, that he didn't know the juror's sister, and that he didn't know any of Monique's friends (84:64-65). Attorney Wynn further advised the court that she had advised the defendant about the

"falling out" between the juror and the sister and Monique. The defendant told defense counsel that he did not want Juror Jolanda stricken from the panel (84:65).

The court indicated that it would not resolve the issue at that time because another matter had come to its attention. The court indicated that a deputy had advised the court that one of the jurors knew Jesse Sawyer, a witness who had just got done testifying for the defense. Id. The juror, Corey W., described by the court as "the African-American male whose father is a police officer," was voir dired in-camera outside of both the jury's and the defendant's presence (84:65-66).

Corey P. indicated that he knew Sawyer because Sawyer worked on Harley Davidson motorcycles, and Corey wanted Sawyer to do some work on his (Corey's) motorcycle (84:66). Corey indicated that he had known Sawyer for about three years but did not consider him a personal friend. (84:66-67). Corey indicated that he had seen Sawyer at Harley events and that they had talked about Harley motorcycles. Corey further indicated that he stopped by Sawyer's house once, but

he remained on the sidewalk and did not go into his house or into his garage (84:67). Corey indicated that he had seen Sawyer on three occasions during the preceding year but they didn't socialize or spend any time together (84:68). Corey indicated that he simply knew Sawyer as a person he could take his bike to if he needed some work done, but that they did not have each other's telephone numbers and Sawyer did not know where Corey lived. Id.

Defense counsel indicated that she objected to having Corey removed for cause or having him designated as an alternate (84:71). The state indicated that it was not asking that Corey be stricken for cause at that point, but reserved the right to make the motion later. The state didn't know what position to take at that point. Id. The court made the following ruling:

Okay. I'll tell you what I'm going to do. I am not convinced that I have to remove anyone from the panel at this time. I'm going to complete the rest of the trial, and I'll revisit this before we decide lots. And if we do, I'll likely - if, if the court finds that it's appropriate to strike one for cause as a result of what's been made known, it will be done in the context of not having their name pulled. But at this point I'm going to defer, keep the two we've got. Because the way this

is going, I don't know what will happen next. So I'll keep all my options open at this point. I don't think any of them being allowed to continue on the jury will compromise anything.

(84:73).

The parties were then allowed to ask follow up questions of both jurors. Juror Jolanda P. indicated that she had simply told another juror that she had recognized somebody and that the court had asked her some questions, and nothing more (84:73-74). Juror Corey W. indicated that he had merely made a comment to other jurors that he recognized Witness Sawyer and nothing more (84:75). The court reaffirmed its ruling that the jurors would be allowed to remain (84:76). Throughout this entire voir dire of both Jolanda P. and Corey W., the defendant was not present.

After dealing with the jury issue, the court asked defense counsel if she wished to make a motion for a directed verdict and further inquired whether defense counsel wished to have the defendant present when arguing the motion. Defense counsel indicated that she would do it there without the defendant. She did, and the court denied the motion (84:76-77).

The court and both parties then discussed jury instructions outside of the defendant's presence (84:77-79). Defense counsel related that Mr. Alexander did not want instructions on any lesser-included offences (84:78-79). The defendant was then finally brought back into the courtroom (84:79) and the trial proceeded (84:80-81). At the end of that day (Friday October 17, 2008), the court indicated that on Monday morning (October 20, 2008), the court intended to start with jury instructions and closing arguments (84:134).

At the beginning of the hearing on Monday morning (October 20, 2008), the court advised the parties that one of the jurors indicated that he/she had been contacted by Juror Jolanda P., and that Jolanda P. had told that other juror that she would not be able to attend court that morning because her (Jolanda P.'s) boyfriend had been in a car accident. Jolanda P. had apparently contacted that juror on the juror's cell phone (85:3). The court also noted this information came to the court's attention earlier that morning and in the meantime, Jolanda P. had arrived at the courthouse and was present. Discussion continued as to

whether Jolanda P. should be stricken for cause. Id. at 4-5. The state renewed its argument that Jolanda P. should be stricken for cause because she was "connected to the defendant's family." (85:5). Defense counsel objected to having Jolanda P. stricken from the jury, pointing out that:

She indicated on the record in chambers that she recognized a person who entered the courtroom. She indicated that she did not know what this person's relationship was to this case or any other case that might be going on in court.

She stated that she knew this person - I believe she called her Monique - through her sister, that she was mainly her sister's friend, that they had a falling out. Her sister had a falling out with her several months ago and that she had not seen her in several months.

I think the most important thing here though is that she's testified that she did not know of any relationship between Monique and Mr. Alexander.

So there's no possible way she could communicate that to another juror because she said she didn't know what their relationship was. She made no indication that she would be anything less than fair and impartial in this case. So I don't think there's any basis for a strike for cause, and I would object.

#### (85:7) (emphasis added).

The court then indicated that Juror Jolanda P. would be voir dired again in chambers. (85:7-10). It is

not clear from the transcripts whether the defendant was present during this voir dire (85:9). The court advised Jolanda P. that as had been discussed earlier, "we need to know that a juror can put side any issues, personal issues, contact issues, and ultimately decide this case fairly for both sides." (85:10). When asked if she could be fair to both sides, she replied: "Oh, I can, I can. I definitely can. That's my whole reason trying to get all the way over here. I didn't think it was fair for everybody else to wait and deliberate." (85:11). When asked again about her relationship with the woman she had recognized in the gallery and whether that would affect her ability to consider the evidence, she replied: "I don't really talk to her. So I have no problem with just making - I don't talk to her at all. It doesn't bother me. I'll be able to go ahead and directly have my own decision." Id.

The district attorney then grilled the juror further about her relationship and contacts with the person ("Monique") in the gallery (85:13-16). Jolanda was asked why she notified the bailiff when she recognized Monique. Jolanda replied that "I felt it was

very important because I didn't know if she was going to retaliate and try to contact me and ask me about some things or not." (85:12). When asked what she meant by "retaliate," Jolanda replied ". . . If she wanted to do revenge, she'll try to get in contact with me and try to talk to me about the case." Id. Jolanda denied that she had any contact with Monique over the weekend (85:12-13). When asked whether she thought Monique had a connection to the case, she replied that she did, but denied that would have any bearing on her ability to be fair. (85:13).

Jolanda further stated that when she notified the bailiff that she recognized the person in the gallery, other jurors were present. The district attorney then asked Jolanda to speculate as to whether, during the remainder of the trial, other jurors might look to her for information outside of the evidence presented at trial (85:14). Jolanda was also asked whether she would then give other jurors an opinion "as to that." Id.

 $<sup>^{1}</sup>$  Jolanda had previously indicated to the court that she was "not sure" what relationship Monique had with the case at bar. See p. 4, supra.

Jolanda indicated that she was confused by the question. Id. The following exchange then took place:

ATTORNEY STINGL: Right, now would it be fair to say that another juror could think that you have some information regarding this case or regarding people connected to this case?

A JUROR: No, I don't feel that at all.

ATTORNEY STINGL: Why do you say that?

A JUROR: Because we don't have a relationship between me and another juror. We don't have a relationship like that.

ATTORNEY STINGL: But in terms of another juror believing that you would have information regarding this person who came into court.

A JUROR: No. Not at all.

(85:15).

Defense counsel was then given the opportunity to question Jolanda and asked her if she could base her decision in the case solely on the evidence and testimony and physical evidence that was presented in the courtroom. Jolanda replied that she could. Id.

Jolanda was then excused and sent back to the jury room. It appears from the transcript, however, that before she got back to the jury room, the court went into the back room and told Jolanda (without either

party present) not to talk to the rest of the jurors about the voir dire proceeding that had just taken place (85:17). The court explained what it had done and then went on to rule that Jolanda would be stricken for cause:

THE COURT: We are back on the record. I went out to grab [Jolanda] to advise her not to talk about the things that occurred in chambers right now with the rest of the jurors.

I was also advised by our court reporter that she had indirect information regarding this juror, [Jolanda], and a gentleman that she had saw in the courthouse who was asking about homicide trials.

And the court reporter indicated that there are a lot of them, but there's one on the sixth floor as well. Subsequent to that, she saw the same person talking to [Jolanda P.]

Is that a fair statement?

COURT REPORTER: Yes.

THE COURT: Okay. Well first of all I don't even want to get into that. I am satisfied on this record despite her statement to the contrary that she could be fair when she told me - us that she'd be concerned about whether this person might retaliate against her or someone else because of the knowledge they have of each other. She's off.

(85:17).

The court then took up the issue concerning Juror Corey W. (85:18). The state requested that Juror Corey

W. also be removed for cause because he knew Jesse Sawyer:

I'm asking that he be removed as well. I don't do this lightly, but the reason is that it's - he's a key witness for the defense. Lester Raspberry indicated that that's who they gave the gun to.

And not only does [Juror Corey W.] know him. He's been over at the actual scene of where testimony is where the gun was brought. But more importantly as well if he kept that to himself I think it would be a different story, but he communicated that to the other members of the jury that he knew this person.

And my problem is that if it becomes that they are going to talk about Jesse Sawyer they are going to talk about this issue with the gun. Where is the gun? They are going to look to him. Then, well, Jesse Sawyer, is he a decent person? Is he not a decent person?

(85:18-19)

Defense counsel objected to the proposed removal of the juror for cause, noting that the juror had testified that he could be fair and impartial. Further, she pointed out that Corey did not tell the other jurors how it was that he knew Sawyer. The court then struck Corey for cause:

Yes. [Juror Corey W.] indicated that despite what we were advised of that he could be fair and impartial. He has been to the residence. He's not been inside the residence, but he's been to the garage area which is, in fact, a part of this case.

He has been with him on more than one occasion. He did indicate they are not friends. He's an acquaintance. He's an acquaintance that he knows indirectly as a result of their mutual involvement with motorcycles and the customizing of motorcycles, but he has spent some time with him.

I'm striking him for cause.

(85:20).

## C. Ineffective Assistance of Counsel

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