# **RECEIVED** 01-07-2013

STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2011AP394-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

DEMONE ALEXANDER,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS, DISTRICT I, AFFIRMING A JUDGMENT AND ORDER OF THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR MILWAUKEE COUNTY, CARL ASHLEY, JUDGE

#### BRIEF FOR PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

J.B. VAN HOLLEN Attorney General

THOMAS J. BALISTRERI Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1009785

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

Counsel's express waiver of Alexander's presence (84:58) cannot be ignored. It was not the prosecutor who sought to have Alexander excluded from the hearings. It was not the court that ordered Alexander to be excluded. If it was error to exclude Alexander, it was an error committed exclusively by his attorney.

Whether the decision by Alexander's attorney to waive his presence was right or wrong, it was tactical. Counsel did not want Alexander to be present at the hearings because she did not want Alexander to be in a position where he might make any statements regarding the jurors on the record (84:64). Counsel wanted to talk to Alexander about the jurors outside the earshot of the court and filter any information she considered helpful (84:63-65).

A tactical waiver by a defendant's attorney is binding on the defendant. *Wilkens*, 159 Wis. 2d at 624; *McDonald*, 50 Wis. 2d at 538. As long as a defendant is represented by counsel whose performance is not constitutionally ineffective, there is no inequity in requiring him to bear the risk of attorney error that results in a procedural default. *Coleman v. Thompson*, 501 U.S. 722, 752 (1991).

A claim of ineffective assistance of counsel is a means of circumventing a waiver. *State ex rel. Rothering v. McCaughtry*, 205 Wis. 2d 675, 680 n.5, 556 N.W.2d 136 (Ct. App. 1996). A waived error, even a constitutional error, is not reviewed directly, but is analyzed under the standards for determining whether counsel was ineffective. *Kimmelman v. Morrison*, 477 U.S. 365, 375 (1986); *State v. Carprue*, 2004 WI 111, ¶ 47, 274 Wis. 2d 656, 683 N.W.2d 31.

Moreover, as *Anderson* noted, whether a claim of error is reviewed directly or under the test for ineffective assistance determines who has the burden of persuasion on the question of prejudice. *Anderson*, 291 Wis. 2d 673, ¶ 48. If the claim is reviewed directly, the state has the burden to prove that any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. *Anderson*, 291 Wis. 2d 673, ¶ 49. But under the test for ineffective assistance, the defendant must prove that his attorney's performance was deficient and prejudicial. *Anderson*, 291 Wis. 2d 673, ¶ 48.

When the defendant's attorney makes a unilateral tactical decision over which the prosecutor has little or no control, it hardly seems fair to make the prosecutor prove that an error committed by someone else which he had little or no ability to avoid was harmless. After all, when the circuit court makes an error, an appellate court will usually refuse to consider it when the circuit court was afforded no opportunity to correct its mistake. *State v. Van Camp*, 213 Wis. 2d 131, 144, 569 N.W.2d 577 (1997).

In addition, it is usually the beneficiary of an error who has the burden to prove that the error was harmless. *Anderson*, 291 Wis. 2d 673, ¶¶ 45, 48.

But tactical decisions made by defense counsel are presumed to be reasonable. *State v. Mayo*, 2007 WI 78, ¶ 60, 301 Wis. 2d 642, 734 N.W.2d 115; *State v. Thiel*, 2003 WI 111, ¶ 19, 264 Wis. 2d 571, 665 N.W.2d 305; *State v. Johnson*, 133 Wis. 2d 207, 217, 395 N.W.2d 176 (1986). So it is presumed that the defendant stands to benefit from, and is the beneficiary of, any tactical decision made by his attorney.

Unless and until the presumption of reasonableness is overcome, the state cannot be tagged as the beneficiary of any error that might have been committed by the defendant's attorney in making a tactical decision. The presumption of reasonableness is overcome when the defendant proves his attorney performed deficiently under the test for ineffective assistance of counsel. *Mayo*, 301 Wis. 2d 642, ¶ 60; *Thiel*, 264 Wis. 2d 571, ¶¶ 18, 19; *Johnson*, 133 Wis. 2d at 217.

Counsel's conscious tactical waiver of Alexander's presence in a case where counsel had the ability to waive Alexander's presence makes the question of prejudice in this case a claim under the test for ineffective assistance of counsel.

Therefore, if Alexander wants his conviction reversed because of his absence from the hearings to determine whether the sitting jurors should be removed for cause, he has a dual burden to prove both that his attorney's performance was deficient and that the deficient performance prejudiced his defense. *State v. Allen*, 2004 WI 106, ¶ 26, 274 Wis. 2d 568, 682 N.W.2d 433; *Thiel*, 264 Wis. 2d 571, ¶ 18.<sup>3</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> On review, the appellate court will uphold the circuit court's findings of fact unless they are clearly erroneous. *Thiel*, 264 Wis. 2d 571, ¶ 17. Whether counsel's performance was deficient

- III. ALEXANDER FAILED TO PROVE HIS ATTORNEY WAS INEFFECTIVE FOR TACTICALLY WAIVING HIS PRESENCE AT THE HEARINGS HELD DURING THE TRIAL.
  - A. Alexander Failed To Prove That His Attorney Performed Deficiently By Waiving His Presence At The Hearings Held During His Trial.

To prove that his attorney's performance was deficient, the defendant must overcome a strong presumption that counsel acted reasonably, and establish that counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness. *Mayo*, 301 Wis. 2d 642, ¶ 60; *Thiel*, 264 Wis. 2d 571, ¶ 19; *Johnson*, 133 Wis. 2d at 217. The reasonableness of an attorney's acts is judged deferentially on the facts of the particular case viewed from counsel's contemporary perspective to eliminate the distortion of hindsight. *State v. Maloney*, 2005 WI 74, ¶ 25, 281 Wis. 2d 595, 698 N.W.2d 583; *Johnson*, 133 Wis. 2d at 217.

The test for ineffective assistance of counsel does not assess the legal correctness of counsel's judgments, but the reasonableness of those judgments under the circumstances of the case. *State v. Weber*, 174 Wis. 2d 98, 115, 496 N.W.2d 762 (Ct. App. 1993). So strategic decisions by counsel are virtually invulnerable to second guessing. *State v. Westmoreland*, 2008 WI App 15, ¶ 20, 307 Wis. 2d 429, 744 N.W.2d 919; *State v. Walker*, 2007 WI App 142, ¶ 15, 302 Wis. 2d 735, 735 N.W.2d 582. Even if a strategic decision appears to have been unwise in hindsight, counsel will not be found to have performed deficiently if his decision was reasonable under the circumstances existing at the time it was made. *State v.* 

and/or prejudicial to the defense are questions of law which are determined independently. *Thiel*, 264 Wis. 2d 571,  $\P$  23.

*Snider*, 2003 WI App 172, ¶ 22, 266 Wis. 2d 830, 668 N.W.2d 784; *State v. Nielsen*, 2001 WI App 192, ¶ 44, 247 Wis. 2d 466, 634 N.W.2d 325.

Alexander has not shown that his attorney performed deficiently by waiving his presence at the hearings because he has not shown that waiving his presence was not precisely what he personally wanted to do.

Alexander's absence was legally voluntary because of the tactical waiver by his attorney. Alexander has not shown that his absence was not actually voluntary as well. Alexander has not shown that he wanted to be at the hearings where his presence was waived. There is no evidence that he disagreed with his attorney's decision that he should not be there.

To the contrary, the record shows that Alexander's attorney talked to him about the events in chambers (84:64), so he was well aware of what was going on in his absence. Counsel relayed to the court information provided by Alexander relating to the situation being discussed in chambers (84:64-65). This suggests that Alexander was satisfied with this manner of proceeding, and did not want to be present at the hearings in person.

Not only has Alexander failed to prove that his attorney's decision to waive his presence at the hearings regarding the reexamination of the jurors was not his decision as well, but he has also failed to prove that his attorney's decision to waive his presence was not reasonable.

Alexander has not shown that his attorney did not have a valid concern that if he was present at the hearings, he might say something on the record which could be used against him by the prosecutor, the court and/or the jurors.

Nor has Alexander shown that his attorney could not have a valid concern that the jurors could have been less candid about potential conflicts involving Alexander's acquaintances if he was sitting only a few feet away from them in chambers.

Finally, Alexander has not shown that it was unreasonable for his attorney to determine that contemporaneously telling him what was transpiring at the hearings and relaying to the court tactically selected parts of what he said in response was not a preferable equivalent alternative to his potentially problematic personal appearance.

Alexander failed to prove that his attorney performed deficiently by tactically waiving his presence at the hearings where the jurors were reexamined during the trial.

B. Alexander Failed To Prove That He Was Prejudiced By His Absence When The Jurors Were Questioned.

Deficient performance is prejudicial when there is a sufficiently strong probability that the result of the proceeding would have been different without the error to undermine confidence in the reliability of the existing outcome. *Allen*, 274 Wis. 2d 568, ¶ 26; *Thiel*, 264 Wis. 2d 571, ¶ 20.

It is not enough for a defendant to speculate on what the result of the proceeding might have been if his attorney had not erred. *State v. Erickson*, 227 Wis. 2d 758, 774, 596 N.W.2d 749 (1999); *State v. Flynn*, 190 Wis. 2d 31, 48, 527 N.W.2d 343 (Ct. App. 1994); *State v. Wirts*, 176 Wis. 2d 174, 187, 500 N.W.2d 317 (Ct. App. 1993). The defendant must show actual prejudice. *State v. Keeran*, 2004 WI App 4, ¶ 19, 268 Wis. 2d 761, 674 N.W.2d 570; *Erickson*, 227 Wis. 2d at 773; *Wirts*, 176 Wis. 2d at 187.

When the defendant alleges that his attorney was ineffective, he must show with specificity what a different action would have accomplished if it had been taken, and how its accomplishment would have altered the result of the proceeding. *See State v. Byrge*, 225 Wis. 2d 702, 724, 594 N.W.2d 388 (Ct. App. 1999), *aff'd*, 2000 WI 101, 237 Wis. 2d 197, 614 N.W.2d 477; *Flynn*, 190 Wis. 2d at 48.

In this case, the "proceeding" is not the entire trial. The "proceeding" here, rather, is the hearings to determine whether two previously selected and sworn jurors should belatedly be discharged. Those were the proceedings from which Alexander was absent.

The result of those proceedings was that the jurors were dismissed for cause over the objections of Alexander and his attorney (84:71, 76, 79; 85:17, 20).

Although the jurors said the matters they raised would not affect their ability to be fair (84:69; 85:11-13), the court dismissed both of them because, despite their disavowal of any bias, the court determined that they were actually biased (85:17, 20). *See Oswald*, 232 Wis. 2d 62, ¶ 19 (court can make factual finding of bias despite juror's denial of bias).

The court decided to dismiss the first juror because the juror was concerned that a woman present in court, who was the mother of Alexander's child and was hostile to her, might retaliate against her (84:58-59, 62; 85:12, 17). The court decided to dismiss the second juror because he knew one of the defense witnesses (84:37, 66-67; 85:20).

To show prejudice from his absence, therefore, Alexander must show it is reasonably probable that the jurors would not have been dismissed for these reasons if he had been present in person at the hearings. But Alexander cannot make any such showing.

Although Alexander did not physically attend the hearings regarding the jurors, his attorney told him what happened there, and got his input to take back (84:64-65, 79). So Alexander was able to convey to the court through counsel anything he and his attorney considered to be relevant regarding the questions about the jurors' possible partiality that surfaced during the trial (84:64-65).

But Alexander had no information relevant to whether either of the jurors might be unable to be impartial (84:64-65). There is no indication that he had any suggestions for questions to the jurors or argument to the court. So Alexander could not have contributed anything to the factual or legal basis for determining whether the jurors should be dismissed for cause if he had been present at the hearing in chambers. He could not have contributed anything which might have changed the court's mind and altered its decision to dismiss the jurors.

Alexander conveyed his legal position that he did not want either of the jurors to be dismissed, a position with which his attorney agreed (84:61, 71, 79). However, the court disagreed with both of them.

Whether or not the circuit court might have committed error by dismissing these jurors for cause is unimportant in this case. Any such error could not be raised in Alexander's brief as an independent reason for reversal of his conviction since no claim of error in dismissing the jurors was raised in the Petition for Review. See Petition for Review at 2. A correct determination by the court would merely provide an additional reason why Alexander was not prejudiced by his absence, which would be superfluous since it is already manifest that there was no prejudice because Alexander could not have contributed anything which could have changed the result if he had been present.

Alexander's suspicion regarding a racial motivation for the removal of the jurors, Brief for Defendant-Appellant at 17, 19, is too little too late. Not only has this claim never been raised before in this case, the claim raised now lacks any factual or legal support.

Factually, Alexander cites nothing in the record to show that the two jurors who were removed were African-American, or that none of the jurors who were left were African-American. Even if both assertions were true, it is clear that these jurors would not have been removed for racial reasons but because they were the only jurors to raise matters relevant to their ability to be impartial during the trial.

Legally, the jury that actually decides a case does not have to reflect a fair cross section of the community. *State v. Horton*, 151 Wis. 2d 250, 258-59, 445 N.W.2d 46 (1989). A defendant is not entitled to have members of his race who might thereby be prejudiced in his favor on his jury. *Wilson v. State*, 59 Wis. 2d 269, 282, 208 N.W.2d 134 (1973).

Alexander has not shown how he might have been able to help his attorney convince the court not to dismiss the jurors for these reasons stated by the court if he had been personally present at the proceeding. He has not shown that the result of the proceeding would have been different, i.e. that the court would not have dismissed the jurors, if he had been present at the hearings where the jurors were dismissed. He has not shown any reason why he might have been prejudiced by his attorney's tactical decision to waive his presence at the hearings.

This case is nothing like *State v. Harris*, 229 Wis. 2d 832, 601 N.W.2d 682 (Ct. App. 1999), where the court examined some sixty potential jurors before the defendant was ever brought into the courtroom.

Rather, as far as the question of prejudice, this case bears some similarity to *State v. David J.K.*, 190 Wis. 2d 726, 528 N.W.2d 434 (Ct. App. 1994), where the defendant was absent from an in camera voir dire of three prospective jurors.

In *David J.K.*, the defendant was absent because of a deliberate choice made by the defendant and his attorney. *David J.K.*, 190 Wis. 2d at 737. After the prospective jurors were examined, counsel advised the defendant what had transpired. *David J.K.*, 190 Wis. 2d at 737. The defendant and his attorney agreed that two of the persons who were examined in chambers should serve on the jury. *David J.K.*, 190 Wis. 2d at 737.

The court found that any error was harmless because the same persons would have served on the jury even if the defendant had been present in chambers for the voir dire. *David J.K.*, 190 Wis. 2d at 738. Therefore, there was no reasonable possibility that any error contributed to the conviction. *David J.K.*, 190 Wis. 2d at 738.

Alternatively, the defendant argued that his attorney was ineffective for waiving his right to be present at the in camera voir dire. *David J.K.*, 190 Wis. 2d at 738. But of course, a defendant cannot show prejudice because of his absence from a hearing when his absence was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. *David J.K.*, 190 Wis. 2d at 740. *See also State v. Tulley*, 2001 WI App 236, ¶¶ 10-11, 248 Wis. 2d 505, 635 N.W.2d 807 (absence of defendant from in camera examination of three prospective jurors harmless because defendant was present at voir dire of all persons who actually sat on jury).

Alexander failed to prove that he was prejudiced by his absence from the hearings held during the trial to determine whether two sitting jurors should be dismissed for cause.

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